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C. By Entry dated August 12, 2003, the matters set forth in the June 11, 2003, notice of 
opportunity for hearing and the July 9, 2003, notice of opportunity for hearing were 
consolidated for hearing. (St. Ex. P).   

 
 

II. Appearances 
 

A. On behalf of the State of Ohio: Jim Petro, Attorney General, by Dominic J. Chieffo, 
Assistant Attorney General. 

 
B. On behalf of the Respondent: Ronald L. House, Esq. 

 
 

EVIDENCE EXAMINED 
 
I. Testimony Heard 
 

A. Presented by the State: 
 

1. Geoffrey D. Snyder, M.D., as if on cross-examination 
2. Officer Jeffrey Kinkle 
 

B. Presented by the Respondent: 
 

1. Jolie S. Brams, Ph.D. 
2. Geoffrey D. Snyder, M.D. 

 
II. Exhibits Examined 
 

A. Presented by the State: 
 

1. State’s Exhibits 1A through 1Z: Procedural exhibits. 
 
2. State’s Exhibit 2: Certification from the Board that, on August 8, 1995, 

Dr. Snyder had been issued a certificate to practice medicine and surgery in 
Ohio.  

 
3. State’s Exhibits 3-8 and 11: Certified copies of documents pertaining to 

Dr. Snyder maintained by the Allen County, Ohio, Court of Common Pleas.  
 
4. State’s Exhibit 9: Certified copies of documents pertaining to Dr. Snyder 

maintained by the Department of the Army, as redacted by the parties.  
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5. State’s Exhibit 10: Certified copies of documents pertaining to Dr. Snyder 
maintained by the Board. 

 
6. State’s Exhibits 12 and 14: Certified copies of documents pertaining to 

Dr. Snyder maintained by the Lima, Ohio, Police Department. 
 
7. State’s Exhibits 13a and 13b: Copy of a videotaped interview of Dr. Snyder by 

the Lima Police Department, with certification. 
 
8. State’s Exhibit 15: Copy of transcripts of Dr. Snyder’s Internet conversations 

with Sarah_420_hottie.   
 

B. Presented by the Respondent: 
 

1. Respondent’s Exhibit A: Curriculum vitae of Jolie S. Brams, Ph.D.  
 
2. Respondent’s Exhibit B: Curriculum vitae of Dr. Snyder. 
  
3. Respondent’s Exhibit C: Copies of letters written by Dr. Snyder’s patients in his 

support. (Note: Exhibit sealed to protect patient confidentiality.)  
 
4. Respondent’s Exhibit D: Copy of a September 30, 2003, letter written in 

support of Dr. Snyder by Isidro A. Amigo, D.O.  
 
 

PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 

1. State’s Exhibit 12 includes reports of Dr. Snyder’s Internet conversations and an interview 
of Dr. Snyder.  During the course of the hearing, Dr. Snyder objected to the admission of 
portions of State’s Exhibit 12.  At hearing, the Hearing Examiner reserved ruling on the 
objection, pending a post-hearing review of the exhibit.  Post-hearing, the Hearing Examiner 
reviewed those portions of the exhibit.  She determined that, although the reports are not 
verbatim replications of the Internet conversations and interview, the discrepancies are 
minor and are not unduly prejudicial to Dr. Snyder.  Accordingly, State’s Exhibit 12 is 
admitted to the record. (See Hearing Transcript at 276-284)  

 
2. The hearing record in this matter was held open until December 1, 2003, to give the State 

an opportunity to submit an additional exhibit.  This document was submitted in a timely 
manner, and admitted to the record as State’s Exhibit 15.  
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SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE 
 
All exhibits and transcripts of testimony, even if not specifically mentioned, were thoroughly 
reviewed and considered by the Hearing Examiner prior to preparing this Report and 
Recommendation. 
 
1. Geoffrey D. Snyder, M.D., received a medical degree in May 1992 from the F. Edward 

Hebert School of Medicine, Uniformed Services University of Health Sciences, in 
Bethesda, Maryland.  In June 1993, Dr. Snyder completed an internship in general surgery 
at Tripler Army Medical Center in Tripler, Hawaii.  Dr. Snyder practiced in the military 
until 1995. (Hearing Transcript at [Tr.] 15-17, 32, 111-114; State’s Exhibit [St. Ex.] 10 at 
2, 4, 19; Respondent’s Exhibit [Resp. Ex.] B)  

 
 In 1995, Dr. Snyder relocated to southeastern Ohio and started a general practice.  

Currently, Dr. Snyder practices family medicine at Swiss Ohio Medical Services, Inc., a 
solo practice, in Woodsfield, Ohio.  Dr. Snyder also served as the Monroe County Coroner 
from 1997 through 2002.  Dr. Snyder testified that Monroe County is a rural area, with a 
population of only 15,000.  He stated that there is neither a hospital nor a medical clinic in 
Monroe County.  Moreover, there are no 911 emergency services.  Dr. Snyder concluded 
that it has been designated an underserved area. (Tr. 17-20, 116, 120-123; Resp. Ex. B)  

 
 Dr. Snyder’s curriculum vitae states that he is board eligible for the American Academy of 

General Practice.  Dr. Snyder is currently licensed only in the State of Ohio. (Tr. 19-20; 
Resp. Ex. B)  

 
 Dr. Snyder testified that he had been married during medical school, but divorced in 

approximately 1993 or 1994.  He remarried shortly thereafter; and that marriage also ended 
in divorce.  Dr. Snyder has sole custody of his nine year-old daughter. (Tr. 114-116) 

 
2. On December 7, 1994, while serving as a Captain in the U.S. Army Medical Corps, 

Headquarters and Headquarters Company, lst Aviation Brigade, 25th Infantry Division 
(Light), Schofield Barracks, Hawaii 96857, Dr. Snyder was informed by Captain Robert L. 
Williams that he had been charged with violations of specified Articles of the Uniform Code 
of Military Justice, Title 10, United States Code.  The charges included allegations of 
having sexual intercourse with a woman not his wife in his government quarters between 
March and June 1994; of making a false official statement on June 21, 1994; and of 
unlawfully assaulting Belinda I. Snyder on October 5, 1994. (St. Ex. 9) 

 
 On May 2, 1995, Dr. Snyder was served a copy of the charges by Trial Counsel Captain 

David K. Wolfe.  The charges were referred to General Court Martial, which constituted a 
request for Dr. Snyder to appear before the Department of Army General Court-Martial to 
answer the charges. (St. Ex. 9)  
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 On July 6, 1995, Dr. Snyder pleaded guilty to, and the General Court-Martial found him 
guilty of, the three charges.  The General Court-Martial sentenced Dr. Snyder to be 
dismissed from the United States Army. (St. Ex. 9)  

 
3. In approximately July 1995, Dr. Snyder submitted to the Board an application for licensure 

to practice medicine and surgery in Ohio. (St. Ex. 10 at 8-22)   
 
 On July 24, 1995, in completing the application, Dr. Snyder signed an Affidavit and 

Release of Applicant, whereby he certified, under oath, that all statements made in the 
application were true.  Moreover, Dr. Snyder certified that he understood that application 
for licensure is an ongoing process.  Therefore, he certified that, if, prior to licensure being 
granted, a change to his answer to any question in the Additional Information section of the 
application was warranted, he would immediately notify the Board in writing of that 
change.  Finally, Dr. Snyder acknowledged that issuance of a certificate to practice 
medicine and surgery in Ohio would be considered on the truth of the statements made in 
the application or furnished at a later date and that, if the answers were false, the Board 
might deny him a certificate. (St. Ex. 10 at 20)   

 
 Nevertheless, in the Additional Information section of the application, Dr. Snyder 

answered “No” to Question No. 10, which asked, “[h]ave you ever been requested to 
appear before any board, bureau, department, agency, or other body, including those in 
Ohio, concerning allegations against you?” (St. Ex. 10 at 12)  

 
4. On August 8, 1995, the Board issued Dr. Snyder a certificate to practice medicine and 

surgery in Ohio. (St. Ex. 2)  Prior to receiving that certificate, however, Dr. Snyder failed to 
inform the Board of the Army’s request that he appear at the General Court-Martial. (Tr. 42, 
44)  

 
5. On August 10, 1995, the Army’s Convening Authority approved the sentence imposed by 

the General Court-Martial and, except for the dismissal, ordered that the sentence be 
executed.  Moreover, following exhaustion of Dr. Snyder’s appeals, the Secretary of the 
Army approved the sentence of dismissal.  Dr. Snyder received a dishonorable discharge 
from the Army and, on January 29, 1999, he ceased to be an officer of the United States 
Army. (St. Ex. 9; Tr. 33) 

 
6. On September 26, 2002, Dr. Snyder was arrested in Lima, Ohio, and charged with 

Importuning.  The charge was based on Dr. Snyder having solicited a police officer who 
was posing as a fourteen year-old girl over the Internet. (St. Ex. 12 at 1-3)   

 
7. Officer Jeff Kinkle testified at hearing on behalf of the State.  Officer Kinkle testified that 

he is employed by the Lima [Ohio] Police Department in the Proactive Crime Enforcement 
Unit [PACE Unit].  He explained that the PACE Unit specializes in proactive law 



Report and Recommendation 
In the Matter of Geoffrey D. Snyder, M.D. 
Page 6 

enforcement in that the unit does not respond to crimes, but works toward preventing 
crime. (Tr. 191)   

 
 Officer Kinkle testified that he had come into contact with Dr. Snyder during the course of 

his duties investigating Internet crime.  Officer Kinkle explained that he had been working 
in an undercover capacity on the Internet and, while was posing as a fourteen year-old girl, 
he had communicated with Dr. Snyder via the Internet. (Tr. 192)    

 
 Officer Kinkle explained that the Internet offers chat rooms, where users can communicate 

with other users in group or private settings.  He stated that, in a chat room, users 
communicate in a group.  If, however, a user wants to communicate privately with another 
user in the chat room, the user can send an instant message to the other user.  With an 
instant message, the other users in the chat room cannot monitor the conversation between 
the two private users.  Officer Kinkle testified that, to send an instant message, the user 
needs only to click on the screen name of the other user and a window opens in which the 
user can type the private message. (Tr. 192-194)  

 
 Officer Kinkle further explained that each chat room contains a list of screen names for the 

people who are participating in the conversation in that room.  He stated that, if you click 
on a screen name, a list will appear setting forth all of the things one can do with that 
screen name.  One option is to send an instant message; another is to view the public 
profile of the person who uses that screen name. (Tr. 197-198)  

 
 Officer Kinkle testified that he had been posing as “Sarah_420_hottie” [Sarah].  He 

explained that “420” is a code used by marijuana users.  He further explained that the public 
profile for Sarah revealed that Sarah was a fourteen year-old girl.  The public profile also 
contained a picture of Sarah and a list of her interests and hobbies.  Sarah’s interests were 
listed as “hanging out at the mall, partying with friends, [and] meeting new people.”  It also 
stated that Sarah had “just broken up with [her] boyfriend because he was a jerk.” (Tr. 196-
198)   

 
 Officer Kinkle testified that, on September 10, 2002, posing as Sarah, he had received an 

instant message from Dr. Snyder, who was using the screen name “Man_that_heals.”  
Dr. Snyder identified himself to Sarah as a 27-year-old male from southeastern Ohio. 
(Tr. 199-201, 224-226; St. Ex. 12)  In his report of the first conversation, Officer Kinkle 
wrote as follows:  

 
 He asked me where I was from, and I told him – Lima, OH.  He indicated 

immediately that he travels all over the place and he knew where Lima was.  
The subject asked me what I was looking for.  I advised him that that depended 
on what he was looking for.  He stated that he was into hooking up and getting 
high and having fun.  He stated that he liked younger ladies.  He then asked me 
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if I’d ever been with an older guy.  I advised him that I had.  The subject asked 
me what all I liked to do.  He then stated that he is very sexual.   

 
 I then asked him if he minded if I was 14.  The subject stated that he did not, 

and that it turns him on.  The subject then asked me if I’d ever been with a 
guy, to which I replied that I had.  He asked me how old the oldest guy I’d 
been with was, to which I replied 19.  The subject then asked if he made me 
cum, and I replied that he did not on the first time.  The subject then stated 
that he loved to feel a woman cum, especially with oral.  He then asked me 
what my favorite sexual thing was.  I advised him that I’d only done it a 
couple of times, and that we just had sex in a regular way.   

 
 The subject then stated that he would like to get together with me at some point 

and meet me.  I advised him that I could do that, and to let me know when he 
would be available and that I would make arrangements.  He then asked me my 
height and weight, and asked me if I liked older men, to which I replied that I 
did.  We then ended the conversation * * *. 

 
 (St. Ex. 12 at 4-5) (Note: for verbatim transcription of the Internet conversations between 

Dr. Snyder and Sarah, see State’s Exhibit 15) 
 
 Officer Kinkle testified that, overall, he had had thirteen Internet conversations with 

Dr. Snyder.  He stated that the vast majority, if not all, of the conversations were initiated 
by Dr. Snyder. (Tr. 196-197, 199)   

 
 Officer Kinkle testified that Dr. Snyder had frequently discussed meeting Sarah.  He added 

that Sarah’s age had been a frequent topic of discussion.  Moreover, Dr. Snyder told Sarah 
that, because of their ages, he feared being arrested due to his interactions with her.  
Nevertheless, Dr. Snyder offered to get “a room” and provide something to smoke so that 
Sarah could get “high.”  He also described, on multiple occasions and in excruciatingly 
graphic detail, the various sexual activities he wanted to experience with her. (Tr. 200-202; 
St. Ex. 12 at 5-13)    

 
 Eventually, Dr. Snyder arranged to meet Sarah at a Kewpee restaurant in Lima on 

September 26, 2002, at 11:40 a.m.  Officer Kinkle prearranged for a twenty-two year old 
woman to pose as Sarah and to sit in the restaurant at the appointed time.  Officer Kinkle 
sat three tables away from Sarah to observe Dr. Snyder.  Other officers watched from the 
restaurant parking lot.  Officer Kinkle acknowledged that the young woman did not appear 
to be fourteen years old. (Tr. 203-204, 247-248; St. Ex. 12 at 14)   

 
 At approximately at 11:40 a.m., on September 26, 2002, Officer Kinkle observed 

Dr. Snyder drive into the parking lot and enter the restaurant.  Officer Kinkle acknowledged 
that, when Dr. Snyder parked his car, he would have been able to see Sarah through the 
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large restaurant windows.  He stated that Dr. Snyder and Sarah had waved to each other 
through the window.  Then Dr. Snyder entered the restaurant and approached Sarah.  He 
gave her a hug and introduced himself.  Dr. Snyder asked her if she wanted to go, and he 
and Sarah left the restaurant.  Upon leaving the restaurant, Dr. Snyder was arrested and 
transported to the Lima Police Department to be interviewed. (Tr. 204-206, 254; St. Ex. 12 
at 14)  

 
8. Dr. Snyder was interviewed by Officer Kinkle and Sergeant Jim Baker.  Officer Kinkle 

testified that Dr. Snyder had spoken freely at the interview and had refused to answer only 
one or two of the questions presented to him. (Tr. 206, 216-217; St. Ex. 12 at 18-22; 
St. Ex. 13) (Note: St. Ex. 13 is a certified copy of a taped recording of the interview.  See 
Tr. 207-210) 

 
 During the interview, Dr. Snyder repeatedly stated that, if Sarah had actually been a 

fourteen year-old, he would have “walked away.”  Dr. Snyder stated that he had not 
believed that Sarah was actually fourteen years old, but had believed that she was an adult 
role-playing as a minor.  Dr. Snyder told Officer Kinkle that the exciting part of role 
playing is investigating to discover who is actually at the other end of the Internet. 
(Tr. 206-209, 222-223; St. Ex. 12 at 18-22; St. Ex. 13 at 12:47:55)   

 
 Dr. Snyder stated that, as far as he knows, he had had only one conversation of a sexual 

nature with Sarah.  In addition, Dr. Snyder stated that he had told Sarah that if she was 
actually only fourteen years old, he could not be with her.  Dr. Snyder acknowledged that 
he had not been sure that Sarah was not a fourteen year-old until he met her personally. 
(St. Ex. 13 at 12:30:00, 12:24:05, and 12:36:10)  

 
 Officer Kinkle testified that, despite Dr. Snyder’s repeated assertions that he had believed 

that Sarah was actually an adult role-playing as a minor, he did not believe that Dr. Snyder 
had truly believed that Sarah was role-playing.  As basis for his disbelief, Officer Kinkle 
testified that there had never been any discussion of role-playing between Dr. Snyder and 
Sarah.  Moreover, Officer Kinkle testified that, of the twenty or so people he had arrested 
for this crime, no one else had mentioned role-playing.  Most significantly, however, Officer 
Kinkle testified that the substance of the conversation had indicated to him that Dr. Snyder 
was not role playing.  Nevertheless, Officer Kinkle acknowledged that admitting that you 
are role-playing during the conversation may defeat the purpose of role-playing. (Tr. 226-
229)   

 
 Dr. Snyder also told Officer Kinkle that he had physically met many women whom he had 

first encountered on the Internet.  Dr. Snyder further stated that, of the people he met through 
the Internet, several had actually been minors.  He told Officer Kinkle that, when he 
discovered that they were minors, he had left immediately.  Dr. Snyder further stated that he 
had had sexual intercourse with twenty to twenty-five people who he had met through the 
Internet.  Dr. Snyder added that, of those with whom he had engaged in sexual activity, none 
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had been minors, although some had claimed to be thirteen or fourteen years-old during 
initial Internet conversations.  Dr. Snyder maintained that none was a minor, although he 
acknowledged that he had never checked identification to ascertain the exact age. (Tr. 212, 
230, 234; St. Ex. 12 at 18-22; St. Ex. 13 at 12:33:08, 12:35:15, 12:35:30, 12:50:35 and 
12:50:55) 

 
 Dr. Snyder stated that it is not illegal for him to desire a girl who is thirteen or fourteen 

years old.  Moreover, Dr. Snyder stated that it is not illegal in Ohio for him to have sex 
with a minor who is at least sixteen years old. (Tr. 213-214; St. Ex. 12 at 18-22; St. Ex. 13)  

 
 Dr. Snyder did not mention Jamie, his former girlfriend, during the interview. (Tr. 212, 

258-259)  
 
 Dr. Snyder acknowledged that he had been told by a counselor that he had a problem with 

sex addiction.  Moreover, Dr. Snyder stated that he knows that what he does is “perverted,” 
“not normal,” and “not healthy.”  Finally, after repeatedly denying that he kept 
pornographic materials involving minors, Dr. Snyder admitted that there may be a 
pornographic photograph of a fifteen year-old girl on his computer. (Tr. 215, 234-236; 
St. Ex. 13 at 12:34:15, 12:34:55, and 13:55:50)   

 
9. On November 15, 2002, Dr. Snyder was indicted in Case No. CR2002 0403 in the Allen 

County [Ohio] Court of Common Pleas.  The indictment charged Dr. Snyder with 
Importuning, in violation of Section 2907.07(E)(2), a felony of the fifth degree.  More 
specifically, the Indictment charged that Dr. Snyder,  

 
 did solicit by means of a telecommunications device, as defined in section 

2913.01 of the Revised Code, to engage in sexual activity with the said 
Geoffrey D. Snyder when the offender is eighteen years of age or older and 
the other person is a law enforcement officer posing as a person who is over 
twelve but less than sixteen years of age, and the said Geoffrey D. Snyder 
believes that the other person is over twelve but less than sixteen years of age 
or is reckless in that regard. 

 
(St. Ex. 3)  

 
 On May 9, 2003, Dr. Snyder entered a plea of no contest to the charge of Importuning.  The 

court found him guilty and ordered a pre-sentence investigation.  The court further ordered 
Dr. Snyder to report the conviction to the Board. (St. Exs. 4 - 6) 

 
 On July 1, 2003, Dr. Snyder appeared for sentencing.  At that time, the court found that 

Dr. Snyder is a sexually oriented offender.  Accordingly, for the next ten years, Dr. Snyder 
must register on an annual basis with the Sheriff’s Office in the county in which he resides. 
(St. Ex. 7 at 8-9)  Moreover, the court sentenced Dr. Snyder to incarceration for forty-five 
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days in the Allen County jail, and to community control/probation for five years.  Terms of 
community control include the following:   

 
• Dr. Snyder shall not have any access to the Internet. 
 
• Dr. Snyder shall have no contact with minor females.  
 
• Dr. Snyder shall not have in his possession any pornography. 
 
• Dr. Snyder shall undergo sex offender specialist evaluation and follow 

recommendations of the evaluation. 
 
• Dr. Snyder shall have no contact with female patients unless monitored, charted, 

and verified. 
 
• Dr. Snyder shall perform 200 hours of community service. 

 
 (St. Ex. 7 at 21-22; St. Ex. 8) 
 
 Factors the court considered in imposing sentence include the following: Dr. Snyder had a 

previous criminal record; Dr. Snyder had not been rehabilitated to a satisfactory degree; 
and Dr. Snyder demonstrated no genuine remorse for the offense. (St. Ex. 8)  

 
 On July 14, 2003, the Allen County Court of Common Pleas stayed the sentence imposed 

upon Dr. Snyder pending appeal. (St. Ex. 14)  
 
10. At hearing, Dr. Snyder testified that he had used the Internet as a dating service.  He 

explained that he lives in a rural area and, at times, he has “gotten into sexual chat” with 
women on the Internet.  Moreover, Dr. Snyder testified that he had personally met five or 
ten women who he had first contacted on the Internet.  He further stated that he had had 
sexual intercourse with five of those women.  In addition, Dr. Snyder testified that he had 
driven to Columbus, Marietta, Youngstown, and Wheeling to meet them. (Tr. 158-159). 

 
 Dr. Snyder testified that, of the women whom he had met through the Internet, none had 

been a minor although some had portrayed themselves to be minors while chatting.  He 
stated that it is common for people to role-play on the Internet until the time that they 
actually meet. (Tr. 126)   

 
11. Dr. Snyder explained that he had contacted Sarah because her Internet screen name, 

“Sarah_420_hottie” was similar to that of a former girlfriend, “Jamie420forall” [Jamie].  
[Dr. Snyder explained that “420” is the designation for the recreational use of cannabinoids 
or marijuana.]  He added that his initial chats with Sarah had increased his suspicions that 
she was Jamie because it had been “obvious” that Sarah was older than fourteen.  He stated 
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that Sarah had used “complex syntax” in her sentences, but that there were “intentional 
misspellings,” which were suspicious.  Moreover, he stated that Sarah’s personal 
description was not credible.  Finally, he stated that, since she did not have a telephone, he 
had concluded that she was avoiding speaking to him because she was Jamie or because 
she did not want him to discover her true age. (Tr. 124-125, 138-139, 150-152)   

 
 Dr. Snyder testified that Jamie had been a patient prior to entering into a personal 

relationship with him.  At the time Jamie entered into a personal relationship with 
Dr. Snyder, she had been between seventeen and nineteen years old.  Dr. Snyder testified 
that he had not continued to treat Jamie as a patient during the course of their sexual 
relationship. (Tr. 104-105, 163-164)    

 
 Dr. Snyder testified that Jamie had been harassing him since the end of their relationship.  

Dr. Snyder further testified that Jamie had “tortured” him after the relationship ended.  He 
stated that she had broken into his house and smashed all of his computer equipment.  In 
addition, she called his house, “swearing,” at “all hours of the day and night.”  He stated 
that she had often been drunk when she did these things.  He further stated that Jamie had 
invented stories about Dr. Snyder’s sexual life and spread them around Monroe County.  
On another occasion, Jamie had blackmailed him trying to get a television and “Play 
Station” that they had purchased for Dr. Snyder’s daughter.  Finally, she had left messages 
on his answering machine stating, “Geoff, I’m going to destroy you.  Better take the ‘M.D.’ 
off your name because it’s not going to be ‘M.D.’ for very long.” (Tr. 170-171)   

 
 Dr. Snyder further testified that he had believed that Jamie was posing as “Sarah” as a 

means to reconcile with him.  He further stated that he had been sure that, even if Sarah 
was someone other than Jamie, Sarah was an adult.  Finally, Dr. Snyder testified that he 
had believed that, in either of those cases, there would be nothing wrong with meeting 
Sarah. (Tr. 125)   

 
 Dr. Snyder stated that he had not asked Sarah if she was Jamie. (Tr. 152)  
 
12. Dr. Snyder testified that he and Sarah had made arrangements to meet.  When asked why 

he had driven from Monroe County all the way to Lima, a three-hour drive, just to see 
Jamie, Dr. Snyder admitted that his conduct seems illogical.  Nevertheless, Dr. Snyder 
stated that his intention at the time had been to drive to Lima, confront Jamie, and tell her 
to stop harassing him.  He stated that, in retrospect, he realizes that he should have reported 
Jamie to the police or obtained a restraining order to control her behavior. (Tr. 154-157)   

 
13. Dr. Snyder testified that, when he drove to Lima, he had discovered that Sarah was an 

adult.  Dr. Snyder testified that she had appeared to be about twenty-four years old due to 
the “lines and wrinkles” on her face. (Tr. 127-128) 
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14. Dr. Snyder testified that, when he was arrested, he had not believed that he had done 
anything wrong. (Tr. 129)   

 
 Dr. Snyder testified that he had pleaded no contest to the charge of Importuning because he 

could not deny that Sarah had held herself out to be fourteen and that he had gone to Lima 
to meet her.  He further testified that he had pleaded no contest because he did not want to 
risk going before a jury due to his fear of losing his daughter and his practice. (Tr. 129-
131)   

 
15. Dr. Snyder testified that his practice has been deeply affected by his criminal conviction.  

Dr. Snyder testified that both a physician and a nurse practitioner left his practice.  
Moreover, he had been forced to terminate the laboratory services in his office.  He added 
that, due to the loss of his laboratory, there are no instant lab results available in Monroe 
County. (Tr. 132-134)    

 
 Dr. Snyder further testified that he had openly discussed his conviction with his patients, 

and that “a lot” of patients have since left his practice.  Dr. Snyder testified his patients had 
left, in part, because he had been dropped by a number of insurance agencies; thus, the 
patients had been forced to leave.  Nevertheless, Dr. Snyder testified that he maintains a 
patient base of 2,500 to 3,000 patients, and he sees thirty patients each day. (Tr. 132-135)   

 
16. Dr. Snyder testified that he has never intentionally harmed a patient or intentionally 

touched a patient inappropriately.  Dr. Snyder added that he is not a danger to his patients 
and he does not see his patients in a sexual manner.  Dr. Snyder acknowledged, however, 
that he had entered into a sexual relationship with Jamie, who had been a patient shortly 
before the relationship started. (Tr. 104-105, 135, 139, 163-164)   

 
17. Regarding the charges brought against him by the Army, Dr. Snyder testified that he had 

had an affair while away from home, which had been a “terrible misjudgment.  He added 
that his making the false statement to his superiors and the fight with his wife had stemmed 
from the fact that he had had an affair.  Dr. Snyder explained that, when his wife had 
learned of his affair, she had become very upset and attacked him.  Dr. Snyder stated that 
he had “held her arms and put a knuckle on her head.”  He added that it had been that 
conduct which had formed the basis for the charge of assault. (Tr. 144-145)   

 
 Dr. Snyder testified that he had not appeared for a trial or court-martial.  Instead, he had 

entered into a plea agreement with the Army.  Dr. Snyder further testified that he had not 
been subpoenaed to appear before any agency of the government in connection with this 
court-martial. (Tr. 147, 149)   

 
18. Dr. Snyder acknowledged that, at the time he completed his application for licensure in 

Ohio, he had been aware that charges had been filed against him by the Army. (Tr. 149-
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150)  When asked his reason for answering “No” to Question 10 on his application for 
licensure in Ohio, Dr. Snyder testified that,  

 
 You know, it’s hard to place myself eight years ago into the frame of mind 

I was.  Obviously -- I mean, I’m filling out a medical application.  I was 
thinking about medical.  I mean, I’m answering medical questions and they 
say have you -- I’m thinking medical board, medical agency, medical body.  
I didn’t intentionally try to mislead anybody.  I didn’t intentionally say, 
“Gee, you know” -- but on the other hand, it was a long time ago.  I -- I can’t 
hundred percent say what my frame of thought was back then. 

 
 (Tr. 148)   
 
19. Dr. Snyder testified that he had resigned his position as Monroe County Coroner on 

May 15, 2003.  He did so because, as a convicted felon, he is not permitted to hold elected 
office in Ohio. (Tr. 118)   

 
20. Jolie S. Brams, Ph.D., testified at hearing on behalf of Dr. Snyder.  Dr. Brams testified that 

she had received a Master’s degree in 1978 and a Doctoral degree in 1981, both in clinical 
psychology and from the University of Michigan.  She further testified that she is a 
licensed clinical psychologist and practices in Columbus, Ohio.  Dr. Brams testified that 
she has extensive experience in pediatric psychology, but she also specializes in forensic 
psychology.  Moreover, Dr. Brams serves as an adjunct clinical assistant professor in 
psychiatry at the Ohio State University College of Medicine.  In the past, Dr. Brams had 
served as an assistant professor in the Department of Pediatrics at the Ohio State University 
College of Medicine, and as a pediatric psychologist at Children’s Hospital in Columbus. 
(Resp. Ex. A; Tr. 60-62, 93)   

 
 Dr. Brams testified that she first met Dr. Snyder in September 2003.  Dr. Brams testified 

that Dr. Snyder had contacted her on the advice of Mr. House for an evaluation of 
psychological factors that may have impacted his judgment, reasoning, and behavior in 
relation to the issues currently before the Board. (Tr. 72-73) 

 
 Regarding her understanding of Dr. Snyder’s conduct which led to his conviction, 

Dr. Brams testified that Dr. Snyder is a lonely man who used Internet chat rooms to meet 
women.  She stated that that, in and of itself, is not a perversion, as many people use the 
Internet as a dating tool.  Dr. Brams stated that it was her understanding that Dr. Snyder had 
actually physically met approximately five women through the Internet.  She could not 
recall the number of women with whom Dr. Snyder had engaged in sexual intercourse. 
(Tr. 97-99)   

 
 Dr. Brams testified that she had interviewed Dr. Snyder for four and one half hours on 

September 2, 2003.  She spent another hour with him on September 30, 2003.  Dr. Brams 
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testified that she is in a good position to evaluate Dr. Snyder because of the intensive 
interview and because she had administered the Minnesota Multiphasic Personal 
Inventory II [MMPI] to Dr. Snyder.  Dr. Brams testified that the results of the MMPI were 
consistent with her evaluation after clinical interviews.  She further stated that Dr. Snyder 
had been forthright and open during the interview.  Finally, Dr. Brams stated that she is in a 
good position to evaluate Dr. Snyder because she has considerable knowledge about the 
medical profession due to her experience teaching residents and medical students. (Tr. 73, 
74, 96) 

 
 Dr. Brams testified that, as a result of her evaluation of Dr. Snyder, she had concluded that 

Dr. Snyder has significant difficulties in judgment, reasoning, and impulse control in his 
personal life.  She stated, however, that Dr. Snyder is “compartmentalized” emotionally.  
As a result, his problems are confined to his personal life, and do not spill over into his 
professional life.  Dr. Brams testified that Dr. Snyder is extremely dedicated to his patients. 
(Tr. 76-77, 84-85)   

 
 Dr. Brams further testified that she had diagnosed Dr. Snyder as having a personality 

disorder.  She described Dr. Snyder’s personality disorder, as follows: 
 

 By definition, personality disorders are long-term, pervasive, maladaptive ways 
of interacting with and viewing the environment.  And usually the 
pervasiveness impacts work, friends, school, family, relationships, the whole 
gamut of one’s life.  In terms of Dr. Snyder, he clearly has distortions in the 
way that he views relationships.  And he has made many errors to that end that 
have not been in his best interest.  But it seems that that immaturity, that lack of 
ability to appropriately deal with relationships, to assess situations, is in most 
part limited to his personal life.  And because of his commitment to his 
profession, his general intellectual wherewithal, these -- these problems, for the 
most part, do not seem to blend into his professional life.  Unfortunately, in his 
present situation, one has greatly impacted the other.  

 
 (Tr. 78)  
 
 Dr. Brams stated that the dichotomy in Dr. Snyder’s emotional life resulted from his 

childhood family circumstances.  She stated that Dr. Snyder had been raised in a very 
difficult family.  His father was emotionally distant and spent little time with him.   His 
mother had dealt with her personal problems and her unhappy marriage by being a 
compulsive shopper.  Dr. Brams added that, when Dr. Snyder was sixteen, his father had 
died of a heart attack.  Dr. Brams concluded that Dr. Snyder’s emotional development had 
been unhealthy.  He learned how to deal with relationships only superficially.  He was “ a 
very nerdy kid” who had not developed the necessary self-esteem to have healthy 
relationships with girls his age.  She concluded that the parts of him that should have been 
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nurtured as a child were not, and that that was the reason his personality disorder 
developed. (Tr. 86-88)  

 
 Dr. Brams testified that Dr. Snyder makes extremely poor judgments and demonstrates 

marked immaturity in his adult relationships.  She stated that he is unable to have stable 
relationships with women his own age, and he makes poor decisions when choosing 
partners.  She stated that, because of his social immaturity, he tends to gravitate toward 
younger women.  Nevertheless, Dr. Brams firmly stated that Dr. Snyder is not a pedophile.  
Moreover, it is her opinion that he is not a sexual deviant or a sexual predator.  Finally, 
Dr. Brams testified that she does not believe that Dr. Snyder’s problems affect his care of 
patients “in any real way.” (Tr. 78-81)  

 
 Dr. Brams later testified that she distinguishes Dr. Snyder from a pedophile because a 

pedophile is, among other things, sexually aroused by an immature or barely mature female 
body.  She stated that Dr. Snyder is attracted to emotionally immature young women, 
women who are “maybe ten years younger than him or maybe in late adolescence, 18 
years.”  Dr. Brams stated that she believes that Dr. Snyder had thought Sarah was a young 
adult or, possibly, his former girlfriend.  She admitted, however, that there is a possibility 
that Dr. Snyder had been sexually stimulated with the thought that Sarah actually was a 
fourteen year-old girl. (Tr. 101-104)   

 
 Dr. Brams acknowledged Dr. Snyder’s former girlfriend is currently in her very early 

twenties.  She further acknowledged that Dr. Snyder had lived with the former girlfriend 
and that he had dated her for three or four years. (Tr. 83-84, 104-105)  

 
 Regarding her prognosis for Dr. Snyder, Dr. Brams testified that: 
 

 he needs intensive psychological and probably psychiatric counseling.  I think 
that he has some depression and anxiety. * * *  [H]e needs really reparenting.  
He needs a therapeutic relationship that is confrontive, supportive, educative, 
all of those things.  He needs very, very intense help in those areas of his life 
so he cannot have things like this happen again.  So that would be one thing.  
[He also needs] anti-anxiety medication, perhaps an antidepressant.   

 
 She concluded that, “if he worked very hard for a year, * * * he could make major changes 

in his ability to deal with many of these issues in his life.”  Finally, Dr. Brams concluded 
that Dr. Snyder is not a danger to his patients. (Tr. 88-90)  

 
21.  Dr. Snyder testified that he has not had therapy for sexual addiction or sexual dysfunction. 

Dr. Snyder further testified that he intends to get the counseling that was recommended by 
Dr. Brams. (Tr. 140-141, 164)   
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22. Dr. Snyder submitted letters written in his support by his patients.  He also submitted a 
letter written in his support by Isidro A. Amigo, D.O. (Resp. Exs. C and D)  

 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
1. On December 7, 1994, while serving as a Captain in the U.S. Army Medical Corps, 

Headquarters and Headquarters Company, lst Aviation Brigade, 25th Infantry Division 
(Light), Schofield Barracks, Hawaii 96857, Geoffrey D. Snyder, M.D., was informed by 
Captain Robert L. Williams that he had been charged with violations of specified Articles 
of the Uniform Code of Military Justice, Title 10, United States Code.  The charges 
included allegations of having sexual intercourse with a woman not his wife in his 
government quarters between March and June 1994; of making a false official statement on 
June 21, 1994; and of unlawfully assaulting Belinda I. Snyder on October 5, 1994. 

 
 On May 2, 1995, Dr. Snyder was served a copy of the charges by Trial Counsel Captain 

David K. Wolfe.  The charges were referred to General Court Martial, which constituted a 
request for Dr. Snyder to appear before the Department of Army General Court-Martial to 
answer the charges.  

 
2. On July 24, 1995, in completing the application, Dr. Snyder signed an Affidavit and Release 

of Applicant, whereby he certified, under oath, that all statements made in the application 
were true.  Moreover, Dr. Snyder certified that he understood that application for licensure 
is an ongoing process.  Therefore, he certified that, if, prior to licensure being granted, a 
change to his answer to any question in the Additional Information section of the 
application was warranted, he would immediately notify the Board in writing of that change.  
Finally, Dr. Snyder acknowledged that issuance of a certificate to practice medicine and 
surgery in Ohio would be considered on the truth of the statements made in the application 
or furnished at a later date and that, if the answers were false, the Board might deny him a 
certificate.   

 
 Nevertheless, in the Additional Information section of the application, Dr. Snyder 

answered “No” to Question No. 10, which asked, “[h]ave you ever been requested to 
appear before any board, bureau, department, agency, or other body, including those in 
Ohio, concerning allegations against you?”  

 
3. On July 6, 1995, Dr. Snyder pleaded guilty to, and the General Court-Martial found him 

guilty of, the three charges.  The General Court-Martial sentenced Dr. Snyder to be 
dismissed from the United States Army. 

 
4. On August 8, 1995, the Board issued Dr. Snyder a certificate to practice medicine and 

surgery in Ohio.  Prior to receiving that certificate, however, Dr. Snyder had failed to inform 
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the Board of the Army’s request that he appear at the General Court-Martial to answer 
charges for the alleged violations of federal law. 

 
5. On August 10, 1995, the Army’s Convening Authority approved the sentence imposed by 

the General Court-Martial and, except for the dismissal, ordered that the sentence be 
executed.  Moreover, following exhaustion of Dr. Snyder’s appeals, the Secretary of the 
Army approved the sentence of dismissal.  On January 29, 1999, Dr. Snyder ceased to be 
an officer of the United States Army.  

 
6. On May 6, 2003, in the Allen County, Ohio, Court of Common Pleas, Dr. Snyder was 

adjudged guilty of one felony count of Importuning, in violation of Section 2907.07(E)(2), 
Ohio Revised Code.   

 
 Rule 4731-13-24, Ohio Administrative Code, states that a judicial finding of guilt is 

conclusive proof of the commission of all of the elements of that crime.  Importuning is 
described as a telecommunication solicitation of another “to engage in sexual activity 
when the offender is eighteen years of age or older and the other person is a law 
enforcement officer posing as a person who is over twelve but less than sixteen years of 
age, and the said offender believes that the other person is over twelve but less than sixteen 
years of age or is reckless in that regard.” 

 
 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 

1. The conduct of Geoffrey D. Snyder, M.D., as set forth in Findings of Fact 1 through 4, 
constitutes “fraud, misrepresentation, or deception in applying for or securing any license 
or certificate issued by the board,” as that clause is used in Section 4731.22(A), Ohio 
Revised Code, as in effect prior to March 9, 1999. 

 
2. The conduct of Dr. Snyder, as set forth in Findings of Fact 1 through 4, constitutes 

“publishing a false, fraudulent, deceptive, or misleading statement,” as that clause is used 
in Section 4731.22(B)(5), Ohio Revised Code, as in effect prior to March 9, 1999. 

 
3. The conduct of Dr. Snyder, as set forth in Findings of Fact 6 constitutes “[a] plea of guilty 

to, a judicial finding of guilt of, or a judicial finding of eligibility for intervention in lieu 
of conviction for, a felony,” as that clause is used in Section 4731.22(B)(9), Ohio Revised 
Code.  

 
* * * * * 

 
Dr. Snyder engaged in reprehensible conduct when he chose to discuss graphic sexual activities 
with a person who may have been a fourteen year-old child.  Moreover, Dr. Snyder arranged to 
meet with her despite the possibility that she was a minor.  Furthermore, Dr. Snyder used his 
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